#### STUDENT GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION OF INDIANA STATE UNIVERSITY

# CONSTITUTION

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# PREAMBLE

PREAMBLE.....

# ARTICLE I- THE STUDENT GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION

| SECTION I: NAME                       | 5 |
|---------------------------------------|---|
| SECTION II: PURPOSE                   |   |
| SECTION III: MEMBERSHIP               | 5 |
| SECTION IV: QUALIFICATIONS FOR OFFICE | 5 |
| SECTION V: ORGANIZATION               | 5 |

# ARTICLE II- THE LEGISLATIVE BRANCH

| SECTION I: POWERS OF THE SENATE  | 6 |
|--|---|
| SECTION II: DEFINITION OF VOTES  |   |
| SECTION III: SENATE MEETINGS   | 7 |
| SECTION IV: THE SPEAKER  | 8 |
| SECTION V: THE CHAIRPERSON OF THE SENATE   | 8 |
| SECTION VI: DEFINITION OF BILLS, STATUTES, PROPOSED RESOLUTIONS, AND RESOLUTIONS | 9 |
| SECTION VII: VETO PROCEDURES   | 9 |

# ARTICLE III- THE EXECUTIVE BRANCH

| SECTION I: THE PRESIDENT        |  |
|---------------------------------|--|
| SECTION II: THE VICE PRESIDENT  |  |
| SECTION III: THE CHIEF OF STAFF |  |
| SECTION IV: THE STUDENT TRUSTEE |  |
| SECTION V: ORDER OF SUCCESSION  |  |
|                                 |  |

# ARTICLE IV- THE JUDICIAL BRANCH

| SECTION I: POWERS OF THE SUPREME COURT         | .13  |
|--|------|
| SECTION II: SGA AND JUDICIAL BRANCH BYLAWS     |      |
| SECTION III: SELECTION AND REMOVAL OF JUSTICES | .13  |
| SECTION IV: THE CHIEF JUSTICE                  | . 13 |
| SECTION V: THE ALL UNIVERSITY COURT            | .14  |

# ARTICLE V- ELECTIONS

| SECTION I: TIME OF ELECTIONS   | 15 |
|--------------------------------|----|
| SECTION II: SPRIN G ELECTIONS  | 15 |
| SECTION III: FALL ELECTIONS    | 15 |
| SECTION IV: ELECTION           | 15 |
| SECTION V: ELECTION PROCEDURES | 16 |
|                                |    |

# ARTICLE VI- REMOVAL FROM OFFICE

| SECTION I: PROCESS OF REMOVAL 12               | 7 |
|--|---|
| SECTION II: DEFINITION OF VOTES                | 7 |
| SECTION III: REASONS FOR REMOVAL FROM OFFICE12 | 1 |

## ARTICLE VII- REFERENDA

| SECTION I: INITIATING A REFERNDUM       |
|---|
| SECTION II: REWQUIREMENTS OF REFERNDA18 |
| SECTION III: WORDING OF REFERENDA 18    |

# ARTICLE VIII- AMENDMENTS

| SECTION I: PROPOSING AMENDMENTS                         |  |
|---|--|
| SECTION II: APPROVAL OF AMENDMENTS19                    |  |
| SECTION III: PRESERVING THE CONSTITUTION AND AMENDMENTS |  |

# ARTICLE IX- AUTHORITY OF THE CONSTITUTION

| SECTION I: SCOPE OF THE CONSTITUTION                               | 20 |
|--|----|
| SECTION II: RATIFICAITON   | 20 |
| SECTION III: TRANSITION OF OFFICIALS                               | 20 |
| SECTION IV: TRANSITION OF EXISTING STATUTES, RULES, AND PROCEDURES | 20 |
| SECTION V: THE ALL UNIVERISYT COURT                                | 20 |

# CONSTITUTIONAL AMENDMENTS

# PREFACE

We, the students of Indiana State University, in order to provide a form of government that will advocate on behalf of student interests, promote student organizations, supervise student activities, provide a forum for student expression, improve student welfare, and maintain educational standards, do hereby ordain and establish this Constitution for the Indiana State University Government Association.

#### **SECTION I: NAME**

1) The name of the official governing body at Indiana State University shall be Student Government Association, the abbreviation for which shall be SGA.

#### **SECTION II: PURPOSE**

1) The purpose of the SGA shall be to organize and coordinate activities of student interest, represent student views concerning University policy through shared governance, protect student rights, and educate individual students and organizations on their respective responsibilities.

#### **SECTION III: MEMBERSHIP**

 Membership in this organization shall consist of all enrolled students of the University, without respect to undergraduate, graduate, or non-degree seeking status. Anyone duly enrolled for the Fall semester of the same calendar year shall be considered a member of the SGA for the preceding summer term as of the point of registration.

#### SECTION IV: QUALIFICATIONS

 To be eligible to be elected or appointed for any position within the SGA a student must be in good academic and conduct standing and must maintain such requirements during tenure in office. To hold the office of President, Vice President, Chief of Staff, Chief Justice, Associate Justice, Speaker, or any paid positions within the SGA, an undergraduate student must also be enrolled in the Fall and Spring semesters for twelve (12) credit hours; all other students must also be enrolled for nine (9) semester credit hours. To hold the office of President or Vice President, a student must also have and maintain a 2.5 cumulative grade point average or be in their first semester at Indiana State University (ISU). To hold the any other elected or appointed position in the SGA, a student must have and maintain a cumulative grade point average of 2.25 or be in their first semester at ISU.

#### SECTION V: ORGANIZATION

1) The SGA shall consist of three branches: the Executive Branch, the Legislative Branch, and the Judicial Branch.

# ARTICLE II- THE LEGISLATIVE BRANCH

#### All legislative authority of the SGA shall be vested in the SGA Senate.

#### SECTION I: POWERS OF THE SENATE

- The Senate shall consist of representatives from the student body elected according to SGA Code. The purpose of the Senate shall be to legislate on matters of student interest and to review the actions of the Executive Branch. The Senate shall be further empowered:
  - a) To appropriate allotted monies and other benefits to SGA-recognized student organizations. The expenditure of such monies shall follow standard University purchasing and disbursement procedures and are subject to audits as required by state and local law.
  - b) To solely amend this Constitution as provided for herein. The Senate shall have the power to create the SGA Code in accordance with rules concerning presidential vetoes prescribed herein. The Senate shall have the sole power to create and amend the Standing Rules of the Senate. The Senate shall have the power to review and approve the SGA Judicial Branch Bylaws created by the Supreme Court.
  - c) To recognize student organizations. Qualifications for SGA recognition of student organizations shall be specified in the SGA Code. The Senate shall have the power to ratify, reject, or revoke SGA recognition of any student organizations after it has notified said organization of the time, date, and place of the meeting at which the Senate is to decide on the matter. Revoking SGA recognition of any student organization shall require a majority vote of at least two-thirds of the Senate.
  - d) To choose additional legislative officers as it deems necessary. The Senate shall have the sole power to approve appointed SGA officers, as well as to establish the duties and compensation of said officers in the SGA Code. The Senate shall have the right to audit the performance of all paid SGA officers each semester. All SGA officers shall submit a report of their activities to the Senate each month. No person shall hold more than one paid SGA position at one time.
  - e) To pass all resolutions and statutes that shall be necessary for the execution of all authority vested in the SGA or any part thereof.
  - f) To approve the terms of contracts of \$2,000 or more to which the SGA is a party.
  - g) To require any official of the SGA or any official of other student organizations to testify at Senate or committee proceedings, after prior notifications.
  - h) To require all officers of SGA-recognized student organizations, following the election or appointment of their successors, to turn over all records and properties pertaining to the office to their successors.
  - i) To place advisory referenda on the ballot in regular or special elections.

- j) Have the sole power to establish in the Standing Rules of the Senate a process for filling vacant Senate seats.
- k) To approve honors and awards on behalf of the entire SGA. The President of SGA or the President's designee shall bestow such awards and honors. Awards and honors given by a single branch shall be governed by the rules of that branch and bestowed by the senior member of the branch or their designee.
- 1) To appoint and approve a student to a vacancy in the Judicial Branch or any officer charged with conducting an election, if:
  - i) The appropriate officer fails to nominate a student for a vacant office by the beginning of the next third (3rd) regular Senate meeting following the occurrence of the vacancy, and
  - ii) The appropriate officer fails to notify the Senate of his or her intention to make the appointment and the date of the meeting in which the nomination shall be submitted.

#### SECTION II: DEFINITION OF VOTES

- All decisions by the Senate and its committees, unless indicated otherwise, shall be decided by a majority vote of those Senators present and voting for or against the proposal on the floor. Those Senators who chose not to vote or abstain shall have their vote recorded, but shall not count in the determination of passage or rejection. Vacancies shall not count in the determination of passage.
- 2) The following cases require a two-thirds (2/3) majority of the total number of seats filled in the Senate to:
  - a) Remove any elected or appointed official from office.
  - b) Pass a proposed Constitutional amendment.
  - c) Withdraw SGA recognition from a student organization, whether permanently or temporarily.
  - d) Call for a referendum vote without a student petition.
  - e) Override a presidential veto.
  - f) Any other matters as set forth in this Constitution, the SGA Code, or the Standing Rules of the Senate

#### SECTION III: SENATE MEETINGS

- The Senate shall decide upon the time, date, and place of regular Senate meetings. In the event the Senate fails to make such decision, the Speaker shall so decide. If the regular meeting time of the Senate shall coincide with an academic recess or during final examinations, the Speaker shall decide the time, date, and place of the next regular meeting. These shall constitute regular meetings.
- 2) The President or seven (7) Senators may request special Senate meetings by submitting written requests to the Speaker, which shall specify the requested date, time, and place of special meetings. The Speaker must honor such requests by calling

special meetings within ten (10) days of receipt of a request. The Speaker must notify the President, the Vice President, the Chief of Staff, the Student Trustee, all Senators, and all SGA Advisors of the date, time, and place of the given special meeting at least three (3) calendar days before the meeting. These shall constitute special meetings.

- 3) Senators must attend all regular and special Senate meetings and all required committee meetings. Missing any regular Senate meeting or any required committee meeting shall count as an absence. The SGA Code shall specify which committee meetings are required. Senators accumulating three (3) absences during a single semester or (5) absences during their term of office shall be removed from the office and so notified. The Speaker shall present the Senate with the entire attendance record of each Senator at each meeting. Senators missing regular or special Senate meetings, as well as required committee meetings, may file a petition with the Senate for the absence to be excused. The Senate may excuse an absence in accordance with reasons established in the SGA Code. Excused absences shall not count toward a Senator's absence tally.
- 4) Quorum for the Senate shall consist of a majority of the total number of filled Senate seats.

#### **SECTION IV: THE SPEAKER**

- The Senate shall elect one of its members to serve as Speaker. Nominations for Speaker shall be made at the first regular meeting of April. The election shall take place at the second regular meeting of April. The Term of the Speaker shall begin at Noon on the Monday following Spring Commencement and last for one year.
- 2) The Speaker shall enjoy all the rights, privileges, and responsibilities of a Senator.
- 3) The Speaker shall have the authority to send resolutions or bills to committee for study; this shall not be interpreted to abridge the authority of the Senate to deliberate on bill or resolutions. The Speaker shall be the spokesperson of the Senate.
- 4) The Speaker shall enforce all SGA rules within the Legislative Branch. The Speaker shall prepare and publish the minutes of all Senate meetings, including a record of the attendance of the members of the Senate, within five (5) calendar days of each meeting. The minutes and the record of attendance shall be presented to the Senate at the next regular meeting. The Speaker shall attend all Senate meetings, deliver statements on behalf of the Senate, and perform all other duties as delegated by the Senate.
- 5) The Speaker shall educate all Senators on correct constitutional, statutory, and parliamentary procedures. The Speaker shall serve as the policy leader of the Senate.
- 6) The Speaker shall keep accurate records of Senate and committee meetings and shall maintain the Standing Rules of the Senate.

7) The Speaker shall appoint senators to all Senate committees with approval of the Senate, and shall coordinate such committees as deemed necessary.

#### SECTION V: THE CHAIRPERSON OF THE SENATE

 The Senate shall choose one if its own members to serve as the Chairperson of the Senate. The Chairperson of the Senate shall conduct all meetings. The Chairperson of the Senate shall be chosen at the last regular Senate meeting of the academic year, and serve a one-year term of office.

# SECTION VI: DEFINITION OF BILLS, STATUTES, PROPOSED RESOLUTIONS, AND RESOLUTIONS

- 1) Any request for a decision submitted to the Senate or any of its committees shall be considered a proposed resolution if:
  - a) The request pertains to removing a person from office, amending this Constitution, amending the Standing Rules of the Senate, expelling or otherwise holding accountable Senators, and appointing SGA officials.
  - b) The request pertains to a non-binding declaration of Senate opinion or will that does not appropriate funds and does not require action by any officer outside the Legislative Branch.
  - c) The request pertains to issues that only affect the internal procedures of the Legislative Branch.
- 2) Upon approval by the Senate, all proposed resolutions shall be considered resolutions of the Senate.
- 3) Any request for a decision submitted to the Senate or any of its committees not described as a proposed resolution herein shall be considered a bill. Any proposed change to the SGA Code shall be considered a bill. Upon approval by Senate and signing by the President, the bill shall become statute of the SGA.

#### SECTION VII: VETO PROCEDURES

Any bill that the Senate passes shall be presented to the President within five (5) weekdays of classes or exams. If the President signs the bill, it shall become a statute of the SGA. If the President takes no action for more than five (5) weekdays of classes or exams, then the bill shall become a statute of the SGA. If the President vetoes the bill partially or entirely, the bill along with any objections shall be resubmitted to the Senate for reconsideration. After reconsideration, if two-thirds (2/3) of the total number of filled Senate seats approve the original bill language, the bill shall then become a statute of the SGA. Senate reconsideration of a vetoed bill must conclude before the end of the vetoing President's term of office, otherwise said bill shall be considered null and void.

# ARTICLE III- THE EXECUTIVE BRANCH

# All executive authority of SGA shall be vested in the President of the SGA. The constitutional officers of the Executive Branch shall consist of the following: The President, the Vice President, the Chief of Staff, and the Student Trustee.

#### **SECTION I: THE PRESIDENT**

- 1) The President shall:
  - a) Have the right to item-veto bills approved by the Senate and its committees.
  - b) Allocate funds as prescribed in the SGA code, in the absence of the Senate.
  - c) Faithfully execute Senate legislation, including prescribed expenditure and distribution of SGA funds.
  - d) Be empowered to call meetings of the Student Body-at-Large when deemed necessary or at the request of the Senate. The President shall preside over all meetings that he or she may call.
  - e) Be the chief spokesperson and liaison for the SGA in all matters internal or external to the University.
  - f) Negotiate and sign all SGA contracts. The Senate must approve contracts of \$2000 or more prior to presidential signature.
  - g) Direct all SGA programs and any other projects initiated by the Executive Branch.
  - h) Appoint all Justices of the Judicial Branch as prescribed in the SGA Code, with approval of the Senate.
  - i) Appoint such staff and commissions as shall be necessary to carry out the duties of the office, or as provided by the SGA Code. The Senate must approve those appointed to represent the SGA externally, to hold paid positions, or to serve on University committees. Unless otherwise specified in this Constitution or in the SGA Code, officials appointed by the President under this subsection may hold office without approval of the Senate until the end of the second (2nd) regular Senate meeting following their appointment. The President may dismiss any such appointments at any time.
  - j) Determine the duties of all Executive Branch members unless otherwise directed by this Constitution or the SGA Code.
  - k) Be responsible for budgetary issues and spending priorities of the organization.

#### SECTION II: THE VICE PRESIDENT

- 1) The Vice President shall:
  - a) Act on behalf of the President, when requested to do so by the President.
  - b) Direct the administrative process for SGA recognition of student organizations.
  - c) Hold and preside over at least one organizational assembly each semester, and serve as an advisor on SGA procedures to student organizations.

- d) Assist in preparing and presenting student organization budgets to the Senate for approval.
- e) Educate student organizations on University policies and procedures
- f) Serve as an advocate for student organizations and their interests.
- g) Keep accurate records of SGA expenditures, which shall conform to standard University financial record-keeping practices.
- h) Supervise such staff and commissions as provided by the SGA Code or by the President.
- i) Submit a written report of all SGA financial activities at the second regular meeting of the Fall semester, the last regular meeting of the Fall Semester, and the last regular meeting of the Spring semester.

#### SECTION III: THE CHIEF OF STAFF

- 1) The Chief of Staff shall:
  - a) Be appointed by the President, with approval of the Senate.
  - b) Be responsible for training and development of all members of the Executive Branch with the exception of the Student Trustee.
  - c) Supervise such staff and commissions as provided by the President, the Vice President, or the SGA Code.
  - d) Advise the President and the Vice President on policy matters pertaining to the organization.
  - e) Aid the President and the Vice President in any other matter as deemed necessary.

#### SECTION IV: THE STUDENT TRUSTEE

- 1) The Student Trustee shall be selected as provided for in state law.
- 2) Subject to the terms and conditions of applicable law, the Student Trustee shall function as a full voting member of the ISU Board of Trustees and fulfill all duties as specified in state law and ISU Board of Trustees governing rules.
- 3) The Student Trustee shall be an SGA officer and a member of the Executive Branch.
- 4) The term of office and conditions of the Student Trustee shall be as specified in state law or in its silence by the ISU Board of Trustees governing rules.
- 5) In addition to the requirements listed in state law, the Student Trustee shall be required to be a full time University student and shall not concurrently serve as an elected or paid official within the SGA.

#### SECTION V: ORDER OF SUCCESSION

- If at any time the President shall resign, be removed, or otherwise leave office before the end of the term, the Vice President shall become President. If for any reason the Vice President cannot assume the office, the Chief of Staff shall serve as Interim President until the Senate chooses a new President. If for any reason the Vice President and the Chief of Staff cannot assume the vacant office of the President, the Speaker shall serve as Interim President until the Senate chooses a new President. Any Executive Branch position that is vacant at the same time that the presidenty is vacant shall remain vacant until filled by the new President; the Interim President shall not have the power to fill such vacancies permanently. The Interim President shall have the power to appoint temporary acting officials to Executive Branch and to make all other appointments that are the responsibility of the President.
- 2) If at any time the Vice President or the Chief of Staff shall resign, be removed, or otherwise leave office before the end of their term, the President shall appoint their replacement with the approval of the Senate.
- 3) A majority of all paid Executive Branch members may petition the Senate to remove an elected Executive Branch officer for incapacitation due to illness or other inability to perform his or her duties. The Senate may remove the person in accordance with the removal procedure prescribed herein.
- 4) Except when otherwise specified by this Constitution, all officers appointed to fill a vacancy shall hold office until the expiration of the term that is being filled.

# ARTICLE IV- THE JUDICIAL BRANCH

All judicial authority of SGA shall be vested in the SGA Supreme Court. The responsibility of the court shall be to preserve and protect the rights of students. All Supreme Court decisions shall be binding on all persons acting within the jurisdiction defined therein.

#### SECTION I: POWERS OF THE SUPREME COURT

- 1) Upon proper presentation of a petition from a member of the student body with standing, the Supreme Court shall have the power to rule on cases:
  - a) Involving constitutionality, proper procedure, and fact arising under this Constitution or other SGA documents.
  - b) Involving constitutionality, proper procedure, and fact arising under the constitution or other documents of student organizations.
  - c) In which the SGA or any part thereof is an actor.
  - d) In which student organizations or any parts thereof are actors.
  - e) Appeals relating to the proper conduct of elections.

#### SECTION II: SGA JUDICIAL BRANCH BYLAWS

1) All judicial action and procedures must be conducted in accordance with the SGA Judicial Branch Bylaws. All amendments to the SGA Judicial Branch Bylaws shall be proposed by the Supreme Court and approved by the Senate before going into effect.

#### SECTION III: SELECTION AND REMOVAL OF JUSTICES

- The Supreme Court shall be composed of five (5) Justices. All Justices shall be appointed by the President, with approval of the Senate, as vacancies arise. Once in office, The Chief Justice and Associate Justices shall hold their seats for as long as they qualify for SGA office as described in this Constitution. Justices shall be removed only in accordance with procedures for removal from office as described in this Constitution.
- 2) One of the seats of the Supreme Court shall be designated as Chief Justice by the President at the time of appointment. The Supreme Court shall consist of one (1) Chief Justice and four (4) Associate Justices.

#### SECTION IV: THE CHIEF JUSTICE

1) The Chief Justice shall serve as the spokesperson and administrative officer of the Judicial. The Chief Justice shall be responsible for requesting funds and other resources as deemed necessary for the operation of the Judicial Branch.

- 2) The Chief Justice shall be a voting member. The Chief Justice shall preside over all Supreme Court sessions, and shall be responsible for conducting all said sessions in accordance to the SGA Judicial Branch Bylaws.
- 3) The Chief Justice shall be responsible for notifying all parties involved in Supreme Court proceedings of actions brought against them. The Chief Justice shall educate all said parties on the SGA Judicial Branch Bylaws, and shall ensure that all interactions amongst parties or between parties and the Supreme Court are in accord with the SGA Judicial Branch Bylaws.
- 4) The Chief Justice shall have the right to establish rules for internal proceedings of the Supreme Court, with the approval of a majority of the Supreme Court.

#### SECTION V: THE CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT

- 1) The Chief Justice shall appoint an Associate Justice to serve as Clerk of the Supreme Court, with the approval of the majority of the Supreme Court. In the absence of the Chief Justice or his or her inability to hear a case, the Clerk shall act as Chief Justice until a replacement can be appointed or the return of the Chief Justice.
- 2) The duties of the Clerk of the Court shall be the following: to insure the minutes of the Court are kept, to record all court cases on audio or video equipment, to schedule all cases at the direction of the Chief Justice and to notify all persons deemed necessary of the date, time, location, names, and petitioner grievances against those individuals to be tried. The Clerk shall be a voting member of the Supreme Court. All records of the Supreme Court shall be maintained in the SGA main office.

#### SECTION VI: THE ALL-UNIVERSITY COURT

- The jurisdiction of the Supreme Court shall not include matters defined to be within the jurisdiction of the All-University Court or covered by the Code of Student Conduct.
- 2) All appointments to the All-University Court shall be in accordance to university policy.

#### **SECTION I: TIME OF ELECTIONS**

1) There shall be two regular SGA elections each year. The Spring Election shall be held on the last consecutive Tuesday and Wednesday of March. The Fall Election shall be held on the last consecutive Tuesday and Wednesday of September. If needed, runoff elections shall be held one calendar week from the date of the original election. The Senate may set a different date for a particular election. The Senate shall officially start its term at the first meeting after the Fall Election. If at any time the number of vacant seats in the Senate shall reach one less than half of the total number, then a special election shall immediately be called for all vacant Senate seats.

#### SECTION II: SPRING ELECTIONS

- The Spring Election shall consist of the election of the President and the Vice President. The inauguration ceremony for the President-elect and the Vice Presidentelect shall take place on the Sunday at the beginning of study week, unless the current SGA president, President-elect and University President shall agree upon a different day and time. The President-elect and the Vice President-elect shall take office on the fifteenth (15th) day of May. The terms of the President and of the Vice President shall be one (1) year in length. If a newly elected officer cannot take office, the succession shall devolve upon other newly elected officers.
- 2) The Spring Election shall also consist of the election for the total number of Senators, except for new students as provided for in the Fall Election. Senators shall take office at the first meeting following their election and serve a one (1) year term of office. Senators shall as long as they qualify to hold office and until their replacements are elected in the following Fall Election.

#### SECTION III: FALL ELECTIONS

 The Fall Election shall consist of the election of Senators representing new students as provided for in the SGA Code. Senators shall take office at the first meeting following their election and serve a one (1) year term of office. Senators shall as long as they qualify to hold office and until their replacements are elected in the following Fall Election. Any student who is newly enrolled at ISU is considered a new student.

#### SECTION IV: ELECTION RESULTS

1) Each voter shall cast one vote for their preferred candidates for both the office of President and Vice President.

- 2) The candidate receiving a majority of all legitimate votes cast for the office of President or Vice President shall be considered the winner of the office in question. If no candidate shall receive a majority, then a runoff election for those candidates with the two highest vote totals shall be held for the office in question.
- 3) A Senate candidate receiving a plurality of all legitimate votes cast for a Senate seat shall be the winner of the seat in question. The SGA Code shall provide for resolution of tie votes for senate seats.
- 4) The person with the most votes in a runoff election shall be considered the winner. If a tie occurs, then a new runoff election shall be held. All runoff elections shall be held within one week and shall last one day.

#### SECTION V: ELECTION PROCEDURES

 All elections prescribed in this Constitution shall be conducted in accordance with this Constitution and the SGA Code. The SGA Code shall determine specific election policy to guide SGA elections and to punish any parties who violate said election policy. No language in this Constitution or in the SGA Code shall be construed as to infringe upon the right of candidates to campaign as a group.

# ARTICLE VI- REMOVAL FROM OFFICE

#### SECTION I: PROCESS OF REMOVAL

- The Senate shall be empowered to remove any officer; Senator; SGA representative; Justice; student representative appointed or elected by any portion of the Student Body; SGA representative to the University governance bodies; or any other member of SGA. When the President or the Speaker is on trial, the Chief Justice shall preside over the Senate. The Senate shall try all cases of removal in accordance with the following procedure:
  - a) A petition for Removal shall be introduced in the Senate by at least seven (7) Senators at the Senate meeting. Upon the submission of the Petition, the official name shall be considered charged, but not removed.
  - b) The charged official and the SGA Advisor shall immediately be notified by certified, next day post of the charges and the date of the meeting at which the charged official will be tried.
  - c) This hearing shall be held while school is in session, not during exams, and at least seven (7) days after the meeting at which the Petition was delivered to the Senate. A two-thirds (2/3) majority vote shall be necessary for conviction.
  - d) Upon conviction, the charged official shall be considered immediately removed from office and shall be so notified by certified, next day post.

#### SECTION II: REASONS FOR REMOVAL

 Proper reasons for Removal shall include, but are not limited to, the following: academic misconduct, failure to qualify for office, violation of the Code of Student Conduct, falling below the grade requirements of their position, failure to keep accurate records, financial misconduct, neglect of duty, abuse of the privileges of office, and/or criminal behavior.

# ARTICLE VII- REFERENDUM

#### SECTION I: INITIATING A REFEREDNUM

- 1) All proposed referenda shall be initiated using one of the following two processes:
  - a) Any student may submit an advisory referendum to be placed on the ballot. The request must contain the names and signatures of ten (10) percent of all enrolled students.
  - b) The Senate may submit an advisory referendum to be placed on the ballot. The request must be approved by a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote.
- 2) All referenda initiated under one of the above two processes shall be submitted to the Chief Justice. A copy of which shall also be submitted to the Senate and the President. All referenda shall be placed on the ballot at the next election, unless a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of the Senate shall set a different date.

#### SECTION II: REQUIREMENTS OF REFERENDUM

 The Senate may place referenda on the ballot during a regular election, a runoff election, or may call for a special election for the purpose of voting upon the referendum. The Senate may place up to three (3) referenda on any given ballot. If multiple referenda are submitted, then the Senate shall have the authority to determine which shall be on the ballot and when. All referenda shall be advisory and shall not be binding upon any person, the SGA, or the University. The Senate may establish other requirements for referenda.

#### SECTION III: WORDING OF REFEREDA

 After a referendum has been submitted by a student or by the Senate, the Supreme Court shall have the final power to ensure that the referendum wording is clear, accurate, and neutrally stated. No referendum may slander or mention the name of any person. Once the final working has been approved by the Supreme Court, then it shall be placed upon the next ballot or the ballot indicated by the Senate.

# ARTICLE VIII- AMENDMENTS

#### SECTION I: PROPOSING AMENDMENTS

1) Proposed amendments to this Constitution shall be delivered to the Senate in writing at any regular meeting. The meeting at which the deliberation and vote shall take place must be at least two (2) calendar weeks from the date of the delivery of the proposal to the Senate.

#### SECTION II: APPROVAL OF AMENDMENTS

- 1) Amendments to this Constitution shall be approved by a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of all Senators, regardless of whether they are present, abstain, or vote.
- 2) After approval by the Senate, the Amendment shall be considered to be enacted upon approval by the President of the University, the designee of the President of the University, or the Board of Trustees. Any amendments made to this constitution must be presented to the Board of Trustees as an information item within the next two agenda meetings of the Board.

#### SECTION III: PRESERVING THE CONSTITUTION AND AMENDMENTS

1) No portion of this original Constitution shall be altered or destroyed. Instead, each amendment shall be attached to this Constitution along with its ratification date and signatures. Each amendment shall state the articles, sections, and paragraphs that are amended.

# ARTICLE IX- AUTHORITY OF THE CONSTITUTION

#### SECTION I: SCOPE OF THE CONSTITUTION

 Neither the SGA nor any SGA-recognized student organization shall take any action or pass any legislation those conflicts with this Constitution. Nothing in this Constitution shall be construed as to violate or interfere with the laws and policies of the Indiana State University, the State of Indiana, or of the United States of America.

#### SECTION II: RATIFICATION

- 1) SGA shall begin operating under this Constitution immediately upon the following:
  - a) Approval by a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote of all Senators, regardless of whether they are present, abstain, or vote.
  - b) Approval of student body expressed through a campus wide referendum.
  - c) Approval by the Board of Trustees.
- 2) The official copy of the Constitution shall be maintained by the Speaker and shall be available for public review.

#### SECTION III: TRANSITION OF OFFICIALS

1) SGA officials in office at the time of passage of this Constitution shall serve until the end of their terms as designated herein.

#### SECTION IV: TRANSITION OF EXISTING STATUTES, RULES, AND PROCEDURE

1) All existing statutes, rules, and procedures shall remain in full force and effect, except as they may be modified by or are in conflict with this Constitution. Nothing herein shall prevent subsequent amendments to the existing statutes, rules, and procedures if such amendments are in accord with this Constitution.

### \*FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION

#### Amendment to Article I, Section IV:

A student must consent to the release of all personal information, such as a background check, to the University. A student must have at least one year experience with Student Government Association (The Legislative Branch, the Executive Branch, or the Judicial Branch), or be sponsored by a current (of the same academic school year as elections) member of the Student Government Association, in order to run for President and/or Vice-President.

\*Nullified by the Fifth Amendment to the Constitution.

#### \*SECOND AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION

#### Amendment to Article V, Section I:

There shall be one, regular SGA election each academic year. The election shall be held on the last consecutive Tuesday and Wednesday of March. *\*Nullified by the Sixth Amendment to the Constitution.* 

#### \*THIRD AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION

#### Amendment to Article V, Section II, Subsection 2:

Revision to previous wording, correction of grammatical errors. Senators shall take office at the first meeting following their election and serve a one year term of office. Senators shall continue to hold office as long as they qualify and/or until their replacements are elected in the following election.

\*Portions of this Amendment are nullified by the Eighth Amendment to the Constitution.

#### FOURTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION

**Amendment to Article V, Section III:** Deletion of section.

#### FIFTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION

#### Amendment to Article I, Section IV: September 12, 2016

A student must consent to the release of all personal information to the University. A student must have at least one year experience with Student Government Association (The Legislative Branch, the Executive Branch, or the Judicial Branch). If a student has no SGA experience, then a petition of fifty signatures of the student body must be provided in order to run for President or Vice-President.

#### SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION

#### Amendment to Article V, Section I: October 24, 2016

The Spring Election shall be held on the first consecutive Tuesday and Wednesday of March.

#### SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION

## Amendment to Article VI: October 11, 2017

A person who has been impeached by the Senate is prohibited from rejoining SGA in any capacity. A person who has been impeached by the Senate is prohibited from running for an elected SGA office. If a person resigns from SGA while they are in the process of being impeached, they shall be prohibited from rejoining SGA in any capacity, and they shall be prohibited from running for election or being elected. In the event that a president-elect is impeached, the presidency will pass to the vice president-elect. If the vice president-elect cannot become the president, the presidency shall pass to the next constitutional officer in the line of succession and so on. This amendment will apply to anyone who was impeached or in the process of being impeached prior to this amendment's ratification.

# EIGHTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION

### Amendment to Article V, Section II: November 1, 2017

Newly elected senators shall take office at the Senate meeting two weeks prior to study week in the Spring semester. Nominations for Speaker of the Senate shall take place at the first meeting of the legislative session, and elections shall take place at the Senate meeting one week before study week. The nominations and elections of other Senate officers shall take place in accordance with the procedures outlined in the Standing Rules of Senate.

# NINTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION

# Amendment to Article III and removal of Section IV of Article III: January 14, 2020

All executive authority of SGA shall be vested in the President of the SGA. The constitutional officers of the executive branch shall consist of the following: The President, the Vice President, and the Chief of Staff.

This amendment also removes Section IV of Article III and changes Order of Succession to Section IV.